

Expert Information

From the Working Group on Hygiene

Implication of infectious agents on results of animal experiments

Streptobacillus moniliformis

Status April 2024

Authors: GV-SOLAS Working Group on Hygiene

Contents

Background	3
Prevalence	3
Host species	3
Properties	3
Susceptibility	4
Organotropism	4
Clinical disease	4
Pathology	5
Morbidity and mortality	6
Zoonotic potential	6
Interference with research	6
Oncology	6
Teratology	6
Infectiology / Interactions with other infectious agents	7
Immunology	7
Toxicology	7
Physiology	7
Cell biology	7
Assisted reproductive technology	7
Special considerations	7
References	9

Streptobacillus moniliformis (S. moniliformis)

Background

- *Streptobacillus* (*S*.) *moniliformis* is the main causative agent of the bacterial zoonosis rat-bite-fever (RBF) in humans and its food-borne variant, Haverhill fever.¹⁻³
- Another form of rat-bite-fever called Sudoku is caused by '*Spirillum minus*' (no valid species/ i.e. not listed in "Approved List of Bacterial Names")
- RBF was first reported in the United States in 1839⁴, but was not associated with a specific pathogen until 1914, when Schottmüller described *Streptothrix muris ratti*, isolated from a rat-bitten man.⁵
- In 1925, the organism was renamed Streptobacillus moniliformis¹
- A milk-associated outbreak of disease occurred in Haverhill (MA, USA) in 1926⁶. The organism found at this time was named *Haverhillia multiformis* by Parker and Hudson⁷, although most likely it represents *S. moniliformis*.
- RBF occurs worldwide and is believed to be under-recognized and under-diagnosed in humans.^{8,9}

Prevalence

- High prevalence of approximately 50–100% in wild rats.^{3,10-12} Also high prevalence in pet rats,^{13,14} but rare in laboratory rats and mice,¹⁵ and in wild mice.
- S. moniliformis was common in laboratory rats in the first half of the last century.¹⁶
- Wild rats usually carry *S. moniliformis* asymptomatically in their oro- or nasopharynx.^{3,10}
- Most documented outbreaks (epizootics) of streptobacillosis in mice were due to rats maintained in the same room or in vicinity and *S. moniliformis* transmission via aerosols or handling by animal caretakers,^{17,18} though in some epizootics rats could not be identified as a source of infection.¹⁹⁻²²

Host species

- Rats (Norway rats, *Rattus norvegicus*) are the natural host¹² which most often harbour the microorganism without clinical signs.
- Mice (Mus musculus) are not a natural reservoir for S. moniliformis.8
- *S. moniliformis* has been found in laboratory rats,²³⁻²⁵ pet rats,^{14,26, 27} feeder rats²⁸ and has also been isolated from laboratory mice.^{19,21,22, 29}
- Other rodents, companion and exotic animal species as well as livestock were reported to be susceptible to infection and clinical disease.^{8,22,30-36}
- Isolates from rats, mice, turkeys and humans were shown to belong to the same species.³⁷

Properties

Commensal inhabitant of the nasopharynx of rats and shed in oral, nasal or ocular secretions of infected animals,³ and in urine and faeces.^{3,38,39} *S. moniliformis* is usually transmitted to humans through saliva by bite or scratch,^{8,27,38,40-45} but also by handling animals, by exposure to their excreta or saliva,^{3,46-48} or by consumption of contaminated

food or drinking water.^{49,50} Transmission through fomites and aerosols is discussed.^{51,52}.

- Persistence: in mice, the persistence of *S. moniliformis* ranges from none³⁸ to six months in joints after intravenous infection of Swiss Webster mice.⁵³ One report indicated the persistence of the organism in a mouse for 16 months.⁵⁴
- Resistance to environmental conditions: The organism does not form spores and is thought to have no significant environmental persistence. Normal environmental decontamination procedures should be sufficient to remove S. moniliformis from the environment.⁵⁵

Susceptibility

- As *S. moniliformis* is a natural commensal of the wild rat nasopharynx, it can also colonize laboratory rats without clinical signs of disease.^{3,56} Differences in susceptibilities of different strains are not described.
- In mice, strain-dependent susceptibility is described: C57BL/6 and outbred Swiss mice are very susceptible to clinical infection, DBA/2 mice intermediate in susceptibility, and BALB/c, CB6F1, B6D2F1 and C3H/He mice do not show clinical signs of infection.^{19,21,22,29,57}
- Successful experimental infection through subcutaneous, intraperitoneal, intravenous, nasal, oral and conjunctival routes is described.^{17,22,53,57-59}

Organotropism

- In rats, *S. moniliformis* is described to be part of the commensal microbiota of the nasopharynx.^{3,16,60}
- In healthy rats, *S. moniliformis* was also isolated by culture from the larynx, upper trachea, lung, submandibular and cervical lymph nodes, and middle ear.^{24,56,60-63}
- In mice following natural infection, *S. moniliformis* was isolated from submaxillary and cervical lymph nodes, blood, spleen, kidney, seldom from vagina, nasopharynx, liver and lung, and never from caecal contents and urine.²²

Clinical disease

Rats

- Generally, rats are asymptomatically colonized.^{3,56} Only rarely, opportunistic pulmonary infections or abscesses were described.^{13,22}
- Bronchopneumonia, otitis media and conjunctivitis were described caused by *S. moniliformis* in conjunction with presumptive pathogens such as *Rodentibacter spp.*, *Mycoplasma pulmonis* and others.^{16,25,60,62,64,65}
- Adult rats are usually resistant to experimental parenteral inoculation, but neonates may develop pneumonia.^{16,60,62} Experimental intravenous infection of young rats caused polyarthritis with swelling, redness, tenderness and stiffness of joints, which subsided 10 to 30 days after the acute phase in most animals.^{66,67}
- The prior death of a rat was sometimes mentioned in cases of human RBF.³⁸

Mice

- Mouse strains differ in their susceptibility to infection and may strain-dependently develop disease. Severe clinical symptoms were only observed in C57BL/6J, Swiss White and Swiss Webster mice and in some DBA/2J mice.^{19,22,38,53,57}
- Typical clinical signs range from ruffled coat, bended back, ocular discharge due to conjunctivitis, emaciation, heavy weight loss, diarrhoea, enlargement of cervical lymph nodes (cervical lymphadenitis), dyspnoea, anaemia, haemoglobinuria, to swelling of the limbs and tail, and polyarthritis with lameness.^{17,19,53,57,68}
- In highly susceptible strains, infection results in septic lymphadenitis, polyarthritis and multi-organ microabscesses leading to septicaemia, cachexia, and sudden death.^{19,38,53,69} If animals survive the acute stages of disease, a more prolonged septicaemia course with polyarthritis, most commonly of the joints of the hind extremities and the tail, swellings, osteomyelitis and abscesses is seen.²²
- Septicaemia and death was induced after subcutaneous infection within 1 to 8 days in 58%, after intraperitoneal infection in 83%, after oral infection in 31% and after intranasal infection in 48% of mice.¹⁷
- Young mice were more susceptible to infection than old mice.²⁰

Guinea pigs

- Isolates from guinea pigs, which were formerly assigned as *S. moniliformis,* form a separate genus and have recently been described as *Caviibacter abscessus.*⁷⁰
- Independent of the route of infection, *C. abscessus* does not cause generalized or systemic disease in guinea pigs,⁷¹ but regionally limited symptoms with unilateral, rarely bilateral purulent lymphadenitis of the submaxillary and cervical lymph nodes.⁷¹⁻⁷⁴
- There is one report of a guinea pig with granulomatous nodular pneumonia without lymphadenitis.⁷⁵
- Spontaneous recovery without any treatment within 3 8 weeks is described.⁷¹

Pathology

- In rats, experimental oral and intranasal infections of several inbred strains did not yield any gross lesions in the respiratory tract.^{23,56,61}
- In mice, *S. moniliformis*-associated gross alterations are only found in highly susceptible mouse strains (e.g. C57BL/6, Swiss white mice) with a clinically apparent infection.^{19,21,22,53,57,68}:
 - Splenomegalia and hepatomegalia with multiple purulent necrotizing foci
 - Purulent to necrotizing pneumonia and lung abscesses
 - Ascites
 - Multiple enlarged lymph nodes (purulent to necrotizing lymphadenitis, in particular *Lnn. tracheobronchiales*, *Lnn. mandibulares* and *cervicales*, *Lnn. axillares* and *inguinales*), and ulcer of the skin
 - Progressive fibrinopurulent arthritis and osteomyelitis with peri-articular abscesses and necrosis, periostitis and fibrous connective tissue proliferation
 - embolic interstitial nephritis in the course of subacute sepsis
- Pathologic findings in cases of acute septicaemia are few.¹⁹

Morbidity and mortality

- Usually no morbidity or mortality in rats⁵⁶
- Strain-dependent high morbidity and mortality in mice^{19,22,38,57}
- All infected C57BL/6 showed clinical signs within 2-3 days.⁵⁶ Mortality between 35% and 75% in C57BL/6, and of up to 100% in a colony of Swiss white mice in the course of an epizootic^{19,22,57}
- No clinical signs in BALB/c⁵⁷

Zoonotic potential

- Although streptobacillary RBF is rather rarely diagnosed, it is most likely under-reported worldwide due to a lack of awareness of the disease among clinicians, absence of pathognomonic signs of disease in humans and animals, lack of reliable diagnostics, fastidious growth of the pathogen, susceptibility to most antibiotics used for empiric therapy and unnoticed animal contact.^{3,9,76} In addition, RBF is not a notifiable disease worldwide.
- People with direct or indirect contact to rats are particularly at risk of infection: homeless people, farmers, hunters and trappers, veterinarians and their employees, pest controllers, sewer workers, pet shop personnel and pet owners. Due to the increased popularity of pet rats, especially children are also a risk group.^{3,8,9,77,78}
- The incubation period for RBF ranges from 3 to 21 days. RBF or food-borne HF is typically characterized by a triad of fever, arthritis and a maculopapular petechial or pustular rash. Acute disease symptoms also include malaise, headache, muscle pain, vomiting and pharyngitis.^{3,8,9} Severe courses of infection may include life-threatening complications, including endo- and myocarditis, hepatitis, pericarditis, pneumonia, abscess formation, chronic arthritis, septicaemia, and meningitis.^{8,28,38,43,45,79-84} Infants and children may experience anaemia and severe diarrhoea resulting in weight loss.^{41, 78}
- Untreated RBF can lead to serious health complications and death. A mortality rate of up to 13% in untreated cases was reported that might be even much higher in cases with chronic tissue manifestations.^{8,78}
- Prompt notification of wild or pet rat bites to a physician and immediate antibiotic treatment normally results in rapid improvement and resolution of infection.³
- Since wild mice are not considered a natural host of *S. moniliformis,* only a few human RBF cases were reported after a mouse bite.^{85,86}
- Since *Streptobacillus sp.* infections are rare in laboratory rodents, zoonotic infections of animal caretakers, scientific staff or veterinarians are not very likely.

Interference with research

Oncology

• No data

Teratology

• Arrested pregnancy with foetal resorptions and abortions were observed in natural infection of pregnant mice.^{59,87}

Infectiology / Interactions with other infectious agents

• No data

Immunology

- The Th1 immune response in C57BL/6 mice is not protective; pathologies are presumably caused in part by the relatively strong Th1 immune response.⁵⁷
- Oral infection of C57BL/6J mice led to IgG production in 65% of animals, whereas only 5% of the DBA/2J and B6D2F1 mice produced IgG. This different reaction against *S. moniliformis* infection might be related to differential recognition by Toll-like receptors.²² The more severe inflammatory reactions after infection could be explained by recognition of *S. moniliformis* by Toll-like receptors in C57BL/6J mice.³⁹
- The presence of homologous antibodies prior to infection prolonged the incubation period for the development of the lesion.²⁰
- *S. moniliformis* was resistant to destruction by *in vitro* phagocytosis and actually increased in number in the presence of phagocytes.²⁰

Toxicology

No data

Physiology

• No data

Cell biology

• No data.

Assisted reproductive technology

No data

Special considerations

- Strict exclusion of wild, feeder and pet rats from laboratory rodent facilities
- Quarantine and testing of all incoming animals from non-commercial sources
- Serological tests are assumed to be superior to culture methods.⁶¹
- In infected rats, antibodies are found 2 to 4 weeks after infection,²⁴ also co-housed rats seroconvert.⁶¹ In mice, strain-dependent disease may result in death before antibodies can be detected.¹⁰
- Evaluation of different sentinel systems revealed that cultural and serological investigations of these animals might not be sufficient to detect infection.⁵⁷
- PCR detection is most successful in tissue samples from pharynx and mandibular lymph nodes, salivary glands, trachea and spleen 3 to 7 days after infection.⁵⁶
- Reliable elimination of *S. moniliformis* by hysterectomy or embryo transfer⁵⁵
- Staff working with laboratory rodents should not keep pet or feeder rats or work with wild rats
- Penicillin G is the most efficient antimicrobial substance (drug of choice in the treatment of RBF and HF) followed by tetracycline.^{3,45}

- Treatments using antibiotics active on the bacterial cell wall (e.g. Penicillin) might induce the formation of cell wall deficient L-forms of *S. moniliformis* that may persist in the human body and cause relapses after stopping antibiotic therapy.^{88,89}
- Incomplete pathogen elimination of *S. moniliformis* infection in C56BL/6 mice after antimicrobial treatment with ampicillin and tetracycline.²²
- A long time the genus *Streptobacillus* was believed to be monotypic comprising *S. moniliformis* as the only species of this genus. Since 2015, five additional species have been named:
 - *Pseudostreptobacillus hongkongensis*, has been exclusively isolated from humans, and is considered to be part of the microbiota in the oropharynx.⁹⁰⁻⁹²
 - *S. felis*, isolated from a domestic cat (*Felis silvestris catus*) and a rusty-spotted cat (*Prionailurus rubiginosus*)⁹³⁻⁹⁵ and from a human patient with rat-bite-fever-like disease⁹⁶
 - S. notomytis, originally isolated from a spinifex hopping mouse (Notomys alexis)⁹⁷. It was also isolated from black rats (*Rattus rattus*).^{10,52,98} Meanwhile there are several cases of RBF in humans, which were caused by S. notomytis transmitted from black rats.^{99,100} Infections of black rats in a zoo caused neurological signs including disorientation, torticollis, stall walking, ataxia and death.⁵²
 - S. ratti, isolated from a black rat in Japan^{10,12,101}
 - S. canis isolated from a dog (Canis familiaris)¹⁰²

Katja Schmidt, Heidelberg, April 2024

References

- 1. Levaditi C, Nicolau S, Poincloux P. 1925. Sur le role etiologique de *Streptobacillus moniliformis* (nov. spec.) dans l'erytheme polymorphe aigu septicemique. Comptes rendus de l'Académie des sciences 180:1188.
- 2. Eisenberg T, Ewers C, Rau J, Akimkin V, Nicklas W. 2016. Approved and novel strategies in diagnostics of rat bite fever and other *Streptobacillus* infections in humans and animals. Virulence 7:630-648.
- 3. Elliott SP. 2007. Rat bite fever and *Streptobacillus moniliformis*. Clin Microbiol Rev 20:13-22.
- 4. Wilcox W. 1839. Violent symptoms from bite of rat. Am J Med Sci 26:245.
- 5. Schottmüller H. 1914. Zur Ätiologie und Klinik der Bisskrankheit (Ratten-, Katzen-, Eichhörnchen-Bisskrankheit). Dermatologische Wochenschrift Ergänzungsheft 58:77. [GERMAN]
- 6. Place EH, Sutton LE. 1934. Erythema arthriticum epidemicum (Haverhill fever). Arch. Intern. Med. 54:659–684.
- 7. Parker F, Hudson NP. 1926. The Etiology of Haverhill Fever (Erythema Arthriticum Epidemicum). Am J Pathol 2:357-380 357.
- 8. Gaastra W, Boot R, Ho HT, Lipman LJ. 2009. Rat bite fever. Vet Microbiol 133:211-228.
- 9. Graves MH, Janda JM. 2001. Rat-bite fever (*Streptobacillus moniliformis*): a potential emerging disease. Int J Infect Dis 5:151-155.
- Kimura M, Tanikawa T, Suzuki M, Koizumi N, Kamiyama T, Imaoka K, Yamada A. 2008. Detection of *Streptobacillus* spp. in feral rats by specific polymerase chain reaction. Microbiol Immunol 52:9-15.
- 11. Etscorn F, Blodgett DD. 1987. Rat-bite fever in the animal laboratory: a precautionary note. Psychobiology 15:345-346.
- 12. Julius RS, Brettschneider H, Chimimba CT, Bastos ADS. 2021. Prevalence and Diversity of the *Streptobacillus* Rat-bite Fever Agent, in Three Invasive, Commensal Rattus Species from South Africa. Yale J Biol Med 94:217-226.
- 13. Rohde J, Rapsch C, Fehr M. 2008. Case report: Abscessation due to *Streptobacillus moniliformis* in a rat. Prakt Tierarzt 89:466-473. [GERMAN]
- 14. Hayashimoto N, Yoshida H, Goto K, Takakura A. 2008. Isolation of *Streptobacillus moniliformis* from a pet rat. J Vet Med Sci 70:493-495.
- 15. Pritchett-Corning KR, Cosentino J, Clifford CB. 2009. Contemporary prevalence of infectious agents in laboratory mice and rats. Lab Anim 43:165-173.
- 16. Strangeways WI. 1933. Rats as carriers of *Streptobacillus moniliformis*. J Pathol Bacteriol 37:45-51.
- 17. Freundt EA. 1956. *Streptobacillus moniliformis* infection in mice. Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand 38:231-245.
- 18. Freundt EA. 1959. Arthritis caused by *Streptobacillus moniliformis* and pleuropneumonia-like organisms in small rodents. Lab Invest 8:1358-1375.
- 19. Glastonbury JR, Morton JG, Matthews LM. 1996. *Streptobacillus moniliformis* infection in Swiss white mice. J Vet Diagn Invest 8:202-209.
- 20. Savage NL. 1972. Host-parasite relationships in experimental *Streptobacillus moniliformis* arthritis in mice. Infect Immunity 5:183-190.

- Kaspareit-Rittinghausen J, Wullenweber M, Deerberg F, Farouq M. 1990. [Pathological changes in Streptobacillus moniliformis infection of C57bl/6J mice]. Berl Munch Tierarztl Wochenschr 103:84-87. [GERMAN]
- 22. Wullenweber M, Kaspareit-Rittinghausen J, Farouq M. 1990. *Streptobacillus moniliformis* epizootic in barrier-maintained C57BL/6J mice and susceptibility to infection of different strains of mice. Lab Anim Sci 40:608-612.
- 23. Boot R, Van De Berg L, Vlemminx MJ. 2006. Detection of antibodies to *Streptobacillus moniliformis* in rats by an immunoblot procedure. Lab Anim 40:447-455.
- 24. Koopman JP, Van Den Brink ME, Vennix PP, Kuypers W, Boot R, Bakker RH. 1991. Isolation of *Streptobacillus moniliformis* from the middle ear of rats. Lab Anim 25:35-39.
- 25. Wullenweber M, Jonas C, Kunstyr I. 1992. *Streptobacillus moniliformis* isolated from otitis media of conventionally kept laboratory rats. J Exp Anim Sci 35:49-57.
- 26. Andre JM, Freydiere AM, Benito Y, Rousson A, Lansiaux S, Kodjo A, Mazzocchi C, Berthier JC, Vandenesch F, Floret D. 2005. Rat bite fever caused by *Streptobacillus moniliformis* in a child: human infection and rat carriage diagnosed by PCR. J Clin Pathol 58:1215-1216.
- 27. Van Nood E, Peters SH. 2005. Rat-bite fever. Neth J Med 63:319-321.
- 28. Eisenberg T, Poignant S, Jouan Y, Fawzy A, Nicklas W, Ewers C, Mereghetti L, Guillon A. 2017. Acute Tetraplegia Caused by Rat Bite Fever in Snake Keeper and Transmission of *Streptobacillus moniliformis*. Emerg Infect Dis 23:719-721.
- 29. Wullenweber M, Hedrich HJ, Reetz IC. 1991. Susceptibility to streptobacillosis of mice is highly influenced by genetic factors. AALAS Bulletin 30:43.
- 30. Ditchfield J, Lord LH, Mckay KA. 1961. *Streptobacillus moniliformis* infection in a dog. Can Vet J 2:457-459.
- 31. Gourlay RN, Flanagan BF, Wyld SG. 1982. *Streptobacillus actinoides* (*Bacillus actinoides*): isolation from pneumonic lungs of calves and pathogenicity studies in gnotobiotic calves. Res Vet Sci 32:27-34.
- 32. Mohamed YS, Moorhead PD, Bohl EH. 1969. Natural *Streptobacillus moniliformis* infection of turkeys, and attempts to infect turkeys, sheep, and pigs. Avian Diseases 13:379-385.
- 33. Russell EG, Straube EF. 1979. Streptobacillary pleuritis in a koala (Phascolarctos cinereus). J Wildl Dis 15:391-394.
- 34. Valverde CR, Lowenstine LJ, Young CE, Tarara RP, Roberts JA. 2002. Spontaneous rat bite fever in non-human primates: a review of two cases. J Med Primatol 31:345-349.
- 35. Yamamoto R, Clark GT. 1966. *Streptobacillus moniliformis* infection in turkeys. Vet Record 79:95-100.
- 36. Das AM. 1986. *Streptobacillus moniliformis* isolated from an abcess of a dog. Ind J Comp Microbiol Immunol Infect Dis 7:115.
- Eisenberg T, Nicklas W, Mauder N, Rau J, Contzen M, Semmler T, Hofmann N, Aledelbi K, Ewers C. 2015. Phenotypic and Genotypic Characteristics of Members of the Genus *Streptobacillus*. PloS one 10:e0134312.
- 38. Wullenweber M. 1995. *Streptobacillus moniliformis* a zoonotic pathogen. Taxonomic considerations, host species, diagnosis, therapy, geographical distribution. Lab Anim 29:1-15.
- 39. Irvine L, Wills T. 2006. *Streptobacillus moniliformis*: a mouse trying to become a rat. Clin Microbiol Newslett 28:118-120.

- 40. Berger C, Altwegg M, Meyer A, Nadal D. 2001. Broad range polymerase chain reaction for diagnosis of rat-bite fever caused by *Streptobacillus moniliformis*. Pediatr Infect Dis J 20:1181-1182.
- 41. Raffin BJ, Freemark M. 1979. Streptobacillary rat-bite fever: a pediatric problem. Pediatrics 64:214-217.
- 42. Anderson D, Marrie TJ. 1987. Septic arthritis due to *Streptobacillus moniliformis*. Arthritis Rheum 30:229-230.
- 43. Wang TK, Wong SS. 2007. *Streptobacillus moniliformis* septic arthritis: a clinical entity distinct from rat-bite fever? BMC Infect Dis 7:56.
- 44. Cunningham BB, Paller AS, Katz BZ. 1998. Rat bite fever in a pet lover. J Am Acad Dermatol 38:330-332.
- 45. Dendle C, Woolley IJ, Korman TM. 2006. Rat-bite fever septic arthritis: illustrative case and literature review. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 25:791-797.
- 46. Anderson LC, Leary SL, Manning PJ. 1983. Rat-bite fever in animal research laboratory personnel. Lab Anim Sci 33:292-294.
- 47. Lambe DW, Jr., Mcphedran AM, Mertz JA, Stewart P. 1973. *Streptobacillus moniliformis* isolated from a case of Haverhill fever: biochemical characterization and inhibitory effect of sodium polyanethol sulfonate. Am J Clin Pathol 60:854-860.
- 48. Albedwawi S, Leblanc C, Shaw A, Slinger RW. 2006. A teenager with fever, rash and arthritis. CMAJ 175:354.
- 49. Mcevoy MB, Noah ND, Pilsworth R. 1987. Outbreak of fever caused by *Streptobacillus moniliformis*. Lancet 2:1361-1363.
- 50. Shanson DC, Gazzard BG, Midgley J, Dixey J, Gibson GL, Stevenson J, Finch RG, Cheesbrough J. 1983. *Streptobacillus moniliformis* isolated from blood in four cases of Haverhill fever. Lancet 2:92-94.
- 51. Kawashima A, Kutsuna S, Shimomura A, Sato L, Ando H, Tanikawa T, Nagashima M, Miyoshi-Akiyama T, Inagaki T, Ohmagari N. 2022. *Streptobacillus notomytis* Bacteremia after Exposure to Rat Feces. Emerg Infect Dis 28:886-888.
- 52. Michel V, Ulber C, Pohle D, Kopke B, Engel K, Kaim U, Fawzy A, Funk S, Fornefett J, Baums CG, Eisenberg T. 2018. Clinical infection in house rats (*Rattus rattus*) caused by *Streptobacillus notomytis*. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 111:1955-1966.
- 53. Savage NL, Joiner GN, Florey DW. 1981. Clinical microbiological, and histological manifestations of *Streptobacillus moniliformis*-induced arthritis in mice. Infect Immun 34:605-609.
- 54. Lominski IR, Henderson AS, Mc NJ. 1948. Rat-bite fever due to *Streptobacillus moniliformis*. Br Med J 2:510.
- 55. Holcombe H, Schauer DB in The Mouse in Biomedical Research, Edn. Second. (eds. Fox JG, Davisson MT, Quimby FW, Barthold SW, Newcomer CE, Smith AL) 365-387 (American College of Laboratory Animal Medicine Academic press, 2007).
- 56. Boot R, Oosterhuis A, Thuis HC. 2002. PCR for the detection of *Streptobacillus moniliformis*. Lab Anim 36:200-208.
- 57. Fornefett J, Krause J, Klose K, Fingas F, Hassert R, Eisenberg T, Schrodl W, Grunwald T, Muller U, Baums CG. 2018. Comparative analysis of clinics, pathologies and immune responses in BALB/c and C57BL/6 mice infected with *Streptobacillus moniliformis*. Microbes Infect 20:101-110.

- 58. Williams S. 1941. An outbreak of infection due to *Streptobacillus moniliformis* among wild mice. Med J Austral 1:357-359.
- 59. Mackie TJ, Van Rooyen CE, Gilroy E. 1933. An epizootic disease occurring in a breeding stock of mice: bacteriological and experimental observations. Br J Exp Pathol 14:32-136.
- 60. Bell DP, Elmes PC. 1969. Effects of certain organisms associated with chronic respiratory disease on SPF and conventional rats. J Med Microbiol 2:511-519.
- 61. Boot R, Bakker RH, Thuis H, Veenema JL, De Hoog H. 1993. An enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for monitoring rodent colonies for *Streptobacillus moniliformis* antibodies. Lab Anim 27:350-357.
- 62. Gay FW, Maguire ME, Baskerville A. 1972. Etiology of chronic pneumonia in rats and a study of the experimental disease in mice. Infect Immun 6:83-91.
- 63. Paegle RD, Tewari RP, Bernhard WN, Peters E. 1976. Microbial flora of the larynx, trachea, and large intestine of the rat after long-term inhalation of 100 per cent oxygen. Anesthesiol 44:287-290.
- 64. Olson LD, Mccune EL. 1968. Histopathology of chronic otitis media in the rat. Lab Anim Care 18:478-485.
- 65. Young C, Hill A. 1974. Conjunctivitis in a colony of rats. Lab Anim 8:301-304.
- 66. Lerner EM, 2nd, Silverstein E. 1957. Experimental infection of rats with *Streptobacillus moniliformis*. Science 126:208-209.
- 67. Lerner EM, 2nd, Sokoloff L. 1959. The pathogenesis of bone and joint infection produced in rats by *Streptobacillus moniliformis*. AMA Arch Pathol 67:364-372.
- 68. Barthold SW, Griffey SM, Percy DH Pathology of Laboratory Rodents and Rabbits, Edn. Fourth. (Wiley Blackwell, 2016).
- 69. Glaser C, Lewis P, Wong S. 2000. Pet-, animal-, and vector-borne infections. Pediatr Rev 21:219-232.
- 70. Eisenberg T, Glaeser SP, Ewers C, Semmler T, Drescher B, Kampfer P. 2016. *Caviibacter abscessus* gen. nov., sp. nov., a member of the family *Leptotrichiaceae* isolated from guinea pigs (*Cavia porcellus*). Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 66:1652-1659.
- 71. Smith W. 1941. Cervical abscesses of guinea pigs. J Pathol Bacteriol 37:29–37.
- 72. Aldred P, Hill AC, Young C. 1974. The isolation of *Streptobacillus moniliformis* from cervical abscesses of guinea pigs. Laboratory animals 8:275-277.
- Bemis DA, Johnson BH, Bryant MJ, Jones RD, Mccleery BV, Greenacre CB, Perreten V, Kania SA. 2016. Isolation and identification of *Caviibacter abscessus* from cervical abscesses in a series of pet guinea pigs (*Cavia porcellus*). J Vet Diagn Invest 28:763-769.
- 74. Fleming MP. 1976. *Streptobacillus moniliformis* isolations from cervical abscesses of guinea pigs. Vet Rec 99:256.
- 75. Kirchner BK, Lake SG, Wightman SR. 1992. Isolation of *Streptobacillus moniliformis* from a guinea pig with granulomatous pneumonia. Lab Anim Sci 42:519-521.
- 76. Eisenberg T Phylogenetic investigations and comparative genome analyses within the family *Leptotrichiaceae* with special consideration of *Streptobacillus moniliformis*, the causative organism of rat bite fever. (Justus-Liebig-University, Giessen; 2017).
- 77. Hirschhorn RB, Hodge RR. 1999. Identification of risk factors in rat bite incidents involving humans. Pediatrics 104:e35.

- 78. Roughgarden JW. 1965. Antimicrobial Therapy of Rat Bite Fever. A Review. Arch Intern Med 116:39-54.
- 79. Bauerfeind R, Von Graevenitz A, Kimmig P, Schiefer HG, Schwarz T, Slenczka W, Zahner H. 2016. Zoonoses: Infectious Diseases Transmissible From Animals to Humans, Edn. Fourth. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- 80. Torres A, Cuende E, De Pablos M, Lezaun MJ, Michaus L, Vesga JC. 2001. Remitting seronegative symmetrical synovitis with pitting edema associated with subcutaneous *Streptobacillus moniliformis* abscess. J Rheumatol 28:1696-1698.
- 81. Vasseur E, Joly P, Nouvellon M, Laplagne A, Lauret P. 1993. Cutaneous abscess: a rare complication of *Streptobacillus moniliformis* infection. Br J Dermatol 129:95-96.
- 82. Hagelskjaer L, Sorensen I, Randers E. 1998. *Streptobacillus moniliformis* infection: 2 cases and a literature review. Scand J Infect Dis 30:309-311.
- 83. Carbeck RB, Murphy JF, Britt EM. 1967. Streptobacillary rat-bite fever with massive pericardial effusion. JAMA 201:703-704.
- 84. Renaut JJ, Pecquet C, Verlingue C, Barriere H, Deriennic M, Courtieu AL. 1982. [*Streptobacillus moniliformis* septicemia]. Nouv Presse Med 11:1143-1144.
- 85. Gilbert GL, Cassidy JF, Bennett NM. 1971. Rat-bite fever. Medical J Austral 2:1131-1134.
- 86. Arkless HA. 1970. Rat-bite fever at Albert Einstein Medical Center. Pa Med 73:49.
- 87. Sawicki L, Bruce HM, Andrewes CH. 1962. *Streptobacillus moniliformis* infection as a probable cause of arrested pregnancy and abortion in laboratory mice. Br J Exp Pathol 43:194-197.
- 88. Domingue GJ, Sr., Woody HB. 1997. Bacterial persistence and expression of disease. Clin Microbiol Rev 10:320-344.
- 89. Domingue G, Turner B, Schlegel JU. 1974. Cell-wall deficient bacterial variants in kidney tissue. Detection by immunofluorescence. Urology 3:288-292.
- 90. Lau SK, Chan JF, Tsang CC, Chan SM, Ho ML, Que TL, Lau YL, Woo PC. 2016. Human oropharynx as natural reservoir of *Streptobacillus hongkongensis*. Sci Rep 6:24419.
- 91. Woo PC, Wu AK, Tsang CC, Leung KW, Ngan AH, Curreem SO, Lam KW, Chen JH, Chan JF, Lau SK. 2014. *Streptobacillus hongkongensis* sp. nov., isolated from patients with quinsy and septic arthritis, and emended descriptions of the genus *Streptobacillus* and the species *Streptobacillus moniliformis*. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 64:3034-3039.
- 92. Eisenberg T, Glaeser SP, Blom J, Kampfer P. 2020. Proposal to reclassify *Streptobacillus hongkongensis* into a novel genus as *Pseudostreptobacillus hongkongensis* gen. nov., comb. nov. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 70:2366-2368.
- 93. Eisenberg T, Glaeser S, Nicklas W, Mauder N, Contzen M, Aledelbi K, Kämpfer P. 2015. *Streptobacillus felis* sp. nov. isolated from a cat with pneumonia. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 65:2172-2178.
- 94. Eisenberg T, Nesseler A, Nicklas W, Spamer V, Seeger H, Zschöck M. 2014. *Streptobacillus* sp. isolated from a cat with pneumonia. JMMCR 2014:1-7.
- 95. Fawzy A, Rau J, Risse K, Schauerte N, Geiger C, Blom J, Imirzalioglu C, Falgenhauer J, Bach A, Herden C, Eisenberg T. 2020. *Streptobacillus felis*, a member of the oropharynx microbiota of the *Felidae*, isolated from a tropical rusty-spotted cat. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 113:1455-1465.
- 96. Matt U, Schmiedel J, Fawzy A, Trauth J, Schmidt K, Vogel K, Herold S, Karrasch T, Imirzalioglu C, Eisenberg T. 2021. Infection in a Young Immunocompetent Male Caused by *Streptobacillus felis*, a Putative Zoonotic Microorganism Transmitted by Cats. Clin Infect Dis 72:1826-1829.

- 97. Hopkinson WI, Lloyd JM. 1981. *Streptobacillus moniliformis* septicaemia in spinifex hopping mice (*Notomys alexis*). Aust Vet J 57:533-534.
- 98. Eisenberg T, Glaeser SP, Ewers C, Semmler T, Nicklas W, Rau J, Mauder N, Hofmann N, Imaoka K, Kimura M, Kämpfer P. 2015. *Streptobacillus notomytis* sp. nov. isolated from a spinifex hopping mouse (*Notomys alexis* THOMAS, 1922), and emended description of *Streptobacillus* Levaditi et al. 1925, Eisenberg et al. 2015 emend. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 65:4823-4829.
- 99. Fukushima K, Yanagisawa N, Imaoka K, Kimura M, Imamura A. 2017. Rat-bite fever due to *Streptobacillus notomytis* isolated from a human specimen. J Infect Chemother 24(4):302-304.
- 100. Ogawa Y, Kasahara K, Lee ST, Ito T, Hasegawa H, Hirose S, Santo S, Yoshida A, Nakano R, Yano H, Mikasa K. 2018. Rat-Bite Fever in Human with *Streptobacillus notomytis* Infection, Japan. Emerg Infect Dis 24:1377-1379.
- 101. Eisenberg T, Imaoka K, Kimura M, Glaeser SP, Ewers C, Semmler T, Rau J, Nicklas W, Kämpfer P. 2016. Streptobacillus ratti sp. nov., isolated from a black rat (*Rattus rattus*) Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 66:1620-1626.
- 102. Eisenberg T, Heydel C, Prenger-Berninghoff E, Fawzy A, Kling U, Akimkin V, Semmler T, Muhldorfer K, Kampfer P, Blom J, Ewers C. 2020. *Streptobacillus canis* sp. nov. isolated from a dog. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 70:2648-2656.

Disclaimer

The use and application of the publications (technical information, statements, booklets, recommendations, etc.) of the Gesellschaft für Versuchstierkunde GV-SOLAS and the implementation of the information and content contained therein is expressly at the user's own risk.

GV-SOLAS and the authors cannot accept any liability for any accidents or damage of any kind resulting from the use of the publication.

GV-SOLAS accepts no liability for damages of any kind arising from the use of the website and the downloading of templates. GV-SOLAS is also not liable for direct or indirect consequential damages, loss of data, loss of profit, system or production losses.

Liability claims against GV-SOLAS and the authors for material or immaterial damage caused by the use or non-use of the information or by the use of incorrect and/or incomplete information are fundamentally excluded.

Claims for damages against the Gesellschaft für Versuchstierkunde GV-SOLAS as well as against the authors are therefore excluded.

The works, including all content, have been compiled with the greatest scientific care. Nevertheless, GV-SOLAS and the authors do not assume any guarantee or liability for the topicality, correctness, completeness and quality of the information provided, nor for printing errors.

No legal responsibility or liability in any form can be assumed by GV-SOLAS and the authors for incorrect information and any resulting consequences.

Furthermore, the operators of the respective websites are solely responsible for the content of the websites printed in these publications.

GV-SOLAS and the authors have no influence on the design and content of third-party websites and therefore distance themselves from all third-party content.